
 

1 

 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

Monday, February 9, 2026 

6:00 p.m. 

 

MINUTES 

 

The City of Clemson Planning Commission met in open session in the Council Chambers in City 

Hall, 1250 Tiger Boulevard, Clemson, SC. 

 
Members present: Herb Tyler (Chair), Greg Rice (Vice-Chair), Tanya Hyatt, Bryan Yoder, 

Tiffany Franks, Benji Cumbie, and John Crolley 

 

Staff present: Nathan Woods, Assistant City Administrator and Planning & Development 

Director; Art Holbrooks, City Planner; Jacob Peabody, Zoning & Codes Administrator; Kelly 

Roach, Recording Secretary. 

 

The meeting was livestreamed and recorded on YouTube. 

 

1. Call to Order:  

 

Mr. Tyler called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m., and then introduced the Commission 

members and staff present.  

 

2. Election of Officers for 2026 (2:59) 

 

a. Chair 

Mr. Tyler called for nominations for Chair. Ms. Hyatt nominated Mr. Tyler to be 

reelected; Mr. Rice seconded the nomination. No other nominations were made. Mr. 

Tyler called for a vote by a show of hands; there was no opposition. Mr. Tyler was 

unanimously reelected Chair for 2026 by a 7 – 0 vote.  

 

b. Vice-chair 

Mr. Tyler called for nominations for Vice-chair. Mr. Tyler nominated Mr. Rice to be 

reelected; Ms. Hyatt seconded the nomination. No other nominations were made. Mr. 

Tyler called for a vote by a show of hands; there was no opposition. Mr. Rice was 

unanimously reelected Chair for 2026 by a 7 – 0 vote. 

 

c. Reappointment of Recording Secretary 

Mr. Tyler made a motion to reappoint Ms. Roach as Recording Secretary; Mr. Rice 

seconded the nomination. Mr. Tyler called for a vote by a show of hands; there was no 

opposition. Ms. Roach was reappointed Recording Secretary for 2026 by a 7 – 0 vote. 

 

Before moving on to the next agenda item, Mr. Tyler informed the Commission he would like to 

address both Action Items and Advisory Items immediately after Adoption of Minutes; there 

were no objections.  

 



 

2 

 

3. Public Session (9:16)  

 

Mr. Tyler opened the Public Session and called for comments related to items not on the agenda. 

He also noted that there had been no written comments received for items not on the agenda.    

 

Mr. Tyler McGee, 108 McGee Street, Clemson. Mr. McGee inquired about the status of the 

Planned Development, Pacolet Milliken. Mr. Woods responded that the developer was still 

indicating the project would soon begin. 

 

Ms. Gay Ferree-Eitenmiller, 137 Honeycomb Lane, Central. Ms. Ferree-Eitenmiller read an 

excerpt from a book called “Your City is Sick” by Jeffrey Sigler. 

 

Mr. Rupert McGinty, 206 N Clemson Avenue, Clemson. Mr. McGinty expressed concerns with 

the amount of ongoing and planned student-oriented housing construction in the City.  

 

Mr. Tyler called for any further comments; there were none. Mr. Tyler closed the public session.  

 

4. Adoption of Minutes (19:46) 

  

a. January 13, 2026 – Regular Meeting 

Mr. Tyler called for proposed edits to the draft minutes; there were none. Mr. Tyler called for a 

motion. Mr. Cumbie made a motion to approve the Tuesday, January 13, 2026 minutes as 

presented; Ms. Hyatt seconded the motion. Mr. Tyler called for discussion; there was none. Mr. 

Tyler called for a voice vote; there was no opposition. The motion was unanimously approved by 

a 7 - 0 vote.  

 

5. Action Items (20:32)  

 

a. 2026-R-01 Neighborhood Conservation Overlay 

Mr. Woods briefed the Commission on updates to the proposed Neighborhood Conversation 

initially presented as a discussion item at the January 2026 meeting. (See Attachment #1) He 

emphasized that it was staff’s goal to replace arbitrary development patterns with a regulated 

model that protects established neighborhoods most susceptible to potential negative impacts. 

(See Attachment #2) Mr. Woods then called for questions from the commissioners. 

Discussion followed. Among the topics discussed were: 

• Clarification of the type of development activity regulated by the overlay. 

• Establishment of the Board of Architectural Review (BAR) guidelines. 

• Clarification of the public’s access to the BAR review. 

• Limitations on the overlay’s regulation of tree removal. 

 

Following the conclusion of discussion, Mr. Tyler called for public comment. (41:33) 

 

Ms. Shawn Haney, 211 Riggs Drive, Clemson. Ms. Haney expressed support for the draft 

overlay. 



 

3 

 

 

Ms. C.C. Bates, 149 Folger Street, Clemson. Ms. Bates stated support for the overlay’s concept, 

but said she believed the effort was too late. She noted that she doubted the accuracy of Clemson 

University enrollment numbers being cited as part of the justification for the proposed standards, 

and said the numbers do not represent students attending classes in person.  

 

Mr. Todd Howard, 116 Strode Circle, Clemson. Mr. Howard identified himself as a member of 

the BAR, and stated he was a proponent of the overlay. 

 

Ms. Nancy Spitler, 210 Edgewood Avenue, Clemson. Ms. Spitler stated she was pleased with 

this overlay and supported adoption. 

 

Ms. Edyta Kuzian, 105 Blue Ridge Drive, Clemson. Ms. Kuzian stated she approved of the 

overlay, and believed more neighborhoods should be included in the boundaries. 

 

Mr. Rupert McGinty, 206 N. Clemson Avenue. Mr. McGinty expressed his concerns with the 

overlay not having any height restrictions, and stated it was too general. 

 

Mr. Chris Shelnut, 100 Dogwood Drive, Clemson. Mr. Shelnut stated that he believed the 

overlay needed to be expanded to other areas, and that it needed more detailed regulations. 

 

Mr. Tyler McGee, McGee Street, Clemson. Mr. McGee expressed appreciation for the 

presentation, and said that he had questions about how the approval for the proposal would work. 

Mr. Woods recommended that Mr. McGee contact Planning staff, and Mr. Holbrooks gave him a 

card with contact information. 

 

Mr. Daron Bates, 149 Folger Street, Clemson. Mr. Bates stated he felt the proposal had a lot of 

merit but would like to see both the boundaries and height restrictions extended.  

 

Mr. Tyler called for any additional comments; there were none. Mr. Tyler then noted that two 

comments had been submitted through the MyCivic app, one in support for the proposed overlay, 

and one against. The public session was closed. 

 

Mr. Tyler called for any further discussion from the commissioners. Among the topics addressed 

were: 

 

• Existing height restrictions in place under the current zoning. 

• Rules for tree removal during new construction.  

• Clarification on what would be addressed by a site management plan. 

• The process of amending the overlay at a later date. 

• The relationship between base zoning and overlays. 

 

Mr. Tyler called for any additional discussion; there was none.  

Mr. Tyler called for a motion; Mr. Yoder made a motion to recommend approval of the proposed 

2026-R-01 Neighborhood Conservation Overlay; Ms. Hyatt seconded the motion. Mr. Tyler 



 

4 

 

called for discussion; brief discussion followed regarding a public hearing being the next step of 

the adoption process. Mr. Tyler then called for a roll call vote. 

The results of the roll call vote were: 

Mr. Crolley – yes 

Ms. Franks – yes 

Mr. Yoder – yes 

Mr. Rice – no 

Ms. Hyatt – yes 

Mr. Cumbie – no 

Mr. Tyler – yes 

The motion was approved by a 5-2 vote. 

6. Advisory Items (1:22:45)  

Mr. Woods briefed the Commission on a staff recommendation to move away from attempting to 

link development needs to student-oriented bed counts. His briefing included a detailed slide 

presentation. (See attachment #3) 

 

Mr. Tyler called for comments from the commissioners. Brief discussion followed. 

 

7.  Planned Development Concept Presentation Workshop (1:37:06) 

 

a. PUD-000526-2026 Proposed Planned Development (201 Pine Street) 

 

Mr. Tyler called for any updates from staff; there were none. He then recognized the 

development team. 

 

Ms. Alison Mills, Vice President with CRG, briefed the commission. She also introduced Mr. 

Zach Britain and Mr. Michael Hanley with their architectural team Lamar Johnson 

Collaborative. (See attachment #4) 

 

Ms. Mills noted some of the changes that were made for the new application. Among those 

listed were: 

 

• The building is now three stories along Hedgerow Lane. 

• The original bed count has decreased from 725 to 555. 

• 205 residential parking spaces; 31 public parking spaces will remain.  

• 12,500 square feet of public space. 

• 1750 feet of waterline improvements. 

• 2400 linear feet of sidewalk improvements. 

 

Mr. Tyler called for comments from the commissioners. Among the topics addressed were: 

 

• Clarification of the type of ADA Pedestrian crosswalks. 

• Parking entrance location. 

• Golf cart parking. 



 

5 

 

 

Mr. Tyler called for any additional comments from the commissioners; there were none. 

 

8. Planned Development Public Session 

 

a. PUD-000506-2025 (1310 Tiger Boulevard) 

 

Mr. Tyler recognized the Kennedy Wilson Group; Mr. Marial Arias and Mr. Nicholas 

Imerman presented. They briefed the Commission, noting the changes that had been made 

since the previous presentation. (See Attachment #5) Among the topics addressed were: 

 

• Retail increased from 6,000 to 15,700 square feet. 

• Expanded the public plaza to 7,200 square feet. 

• Bus shelter will remain on Hwy 76. 

• Community benefits to include $1.4 million in additional benefits. 

 

Mr. Tyler then called for public comments. 

 

Ms. Linda Davis, 224 William Walker Drive, Anderson. Ms. Davis identified herself as 

pastor of New Hope Baptist Church of Clemson, and stated she was present on behalf of the 

Golden View Community. She expressed concerns with the impact of the development  and 

associated traffic on the neighborhood.  

 

Ms. Eva Henry, 234 Riggs Drive, Clemson. Ms. Henry expressed her concerns with the 

height of the building, saying it would result in an invasion of her privacy. 

 

Mr. Bob Healy, 140 Folger Street, Clemson. Mr. Healy said he worried about the additional 

traffic stemming from the development, and the new retail space being occupied. He also 

asked for clarification of the breakdown of the number of parking spaces, and the entrance 

and exit locations. 

 

Ms. Yolanda Green, 106 Church Street, Clemson. Ms. Green stated that the traffic was 

already bad in what was a congested area, and that the development would cause disruption 

to Golden View Baptist Church. 

 

Ms. Joanne Hill, 105 Banks Street, Clemson. Ms. Hill echoed similar concerns with traffic 

and disruption to the community. 

 

Ms. Deborah Hamilton, 303 Reid Street, Clemson. Ms. Hamilton said the additional traffic 

would cause problems to the other streets in the community. 

 

Ms. Rosa Grayden, Central. Ms. Gravden cited potential additional divisions within the 

community, and the impact of additional traffic. 

 



 

6 

 

Mr. Rupert McGinty, 206 N. Clemson Avenue, Clemson. Mr. McGinty stated the 

development would result in problematic congestion at the Hwy 123 and Hwy 76 

intersection. 

 

Mr. Tyler called for any additional comments; there were none.  

 

Mr. Tyler recapped the issues heard from the public. The list of concerns were: 

 

• Traffic on Reid Street. 

• Added traffic coming from the additional retail. 

• How sightlines reach out into the neighborhoods. 

• Traffic exiting on both sides of the development. 

• Controlling parking. 

• Preserving the neighborhood. 

• The impacts on elderly people. 

• Benefits for the community. 

• Buffers. 

• The type of restrictions associated with the development. 

• A traffic study. 

• Designation of Perimeter Road as a by-pass. 

• Familiarization of the developer with Clemson and benefits for the underserved 

community near the development. 

 

 Mr. Tyler closed the public session and took a 5-minute recess. 

 

    Mr. Tyler called the meeting back to order. (2:47:37) 

 

9. Discussion Items (2:47:38)  

 

a. Draft Roof-top Canopy Standards 

 

Mr. Peabody briefed the Commission on the proposed text amendment requested by the 

Shepherd Hotel’s management team. If approved it would amend City Code to allow for the 

installation of a canopy that would provide shelter/shade during rooftop events. (See 

Attachment #6) Mr. Peabody explained that current standards do not permit a rooftop canopy 

due to the limit on stories, and also noted that the proposed change would only apply to 

hotels.  He concluded by stating that a Shepherd Hotel representative would be coming to 

next month’s meeting to present the draft ordinance. 

 

Discussion followed. Among the topics addressed included rooftop access, fire safety, 

temporary tents, BAR approval, and the hotel’s structure. 

 

10.  Staff Reports (2:59:01) 

 

Mr. Woods stated he would be discussing the ordinance on height at the upcoming Council 

meeting, and that the second reading of the comprehensive plan was also on the agenda. He 



 

7 

 

also said that there are possibly an additional two planned development projects coming 

forward.   

 

11.  Other Items (3:02:22) - none 

 

a.   Planning Commission Representation at Council Meetings - none 

b. Future Workshops and Other Events- Mr. Woods announced at the April 6, 2026 Council 

Meeting a speaker from Urban 3 will be speaking.  

 

12.  Adjourn (3:02:32) 

 

 Mr. Tyler called for a motion to adjourn. Mr. Rice made a motion to adjourn; Mr. Crolley 

seconded the motion. Mr. Tyler called for a vote by a show of hands; there was no 

opposition. The motion was unanimously approved by a 7 – 0 vote.   

 

The meeting was adjourned at 9:02 p.m.   

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

 

Kelly Roach, Recording Secretary 

 

These minutes are in draft format and subject to change until approval by the City of Clemson 

Planning Commission.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

8 

 

Attachment #1 
N. Woods Presentation: Neighborhood Conservation District Slides 

 
 
 
 

 



 

9 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

10 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

11 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 



 

12 

 

Attachment #2 
Draft Neighborhood Conservation Overlay 

 

 



 

13 

 

 



 

14 

 

 



 

15 

 

 



 

16 

 

 



 

17 

 

 
 



 

18 

 

 



 

19 

 

 
 



 

20 

 

Attachment #3 
N Woods’ Presentation Slides 

 
 
 
 



 

21 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 



 

22 

 

Attachment #4 
201 Pine Street PD Presentation 

 

 
 
 



 

23 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

24 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 

25 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

26 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

27 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

28 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

29 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

30 

 

Attachment #5 
1310 Tiger Boulevard PD Presentation Slides 

 
 
 
 



 

31 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

32 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

33 

 

 
 
 
 



 

34 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

35 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

36 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

37 

 

Attachment #6 
Draft Rooftop Hotel Canopy Amendment 

 



 

38 

 

 


